
Delight in Green was installed on June 7th next to the Larson Lake Blueberry Farm on 148th at the 
Lake Hills Greenbelt Trail. The new location is worth a visit!

July 10, 2018
SPECIAL MEETING

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

BELLEVUE ARTS COMMISSION



“The arts are an important expression of how people think of and experience the city and 
each other. Bellevue seeks to foster a strong arts and cultural community chiefly supported 
through a wide range of artists, art and cultural institutions, and arts groups offering a variety 
experiences to an engaged audience.”
                         -City of Bellevue, Comprehensive Plan, Urban Design & the Arts Element



Ag
en

da



 
Tuesday, July 10, 2018 

 
Bellevue Arts Commission 

Meeting:  4:30 p.m.  
Bellevue City Hall, 1E-109 Commission Staff Contact:  425.452.4105 

 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 4:30  

Chair Manfredi will call the meeting to order. 
 
2.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND MINUTES  4:30 – 4:35 
  A. Chair Manfredi will ask for approval of the agenda. 
  B. Chair Manfredi will ask for approval of the February 2018 regular meeting 

minutes. 
 
3.  ORAL COMMUNICATIONS    4:35 – 4:40 
  Chair Manfredi will entertain oral communications limited to three minutes per 

person or five minutes if representing the official position of a recognized community 
organization for other than main agenda items and public hearing subject. A 
maximum of three people are permitted to speak to each side of any one topic.  

 
4.  ACTION ITEMS AND DISCUSSION ITEMS  

A. 2018 Bellwether Program Update 4:40 – 5:10 
B. 2019 Bellwether Program Discussion 5:10 – 5:20 
C. BelRed Streetscape Planning Artist 5:20 – 5:35 

 
5.  COMMISSION QUICK BUSINESS   5:35 – 5:40 
 
6. REPORTS          5:40 – 5:45  

A. Commissioners’ Committee and Lead Reports    
  B. Project Updates from Staff    
 
7. CORRESPONDENCE, INFORMATION   5:45– 5:50  

A. Written correspondence (if any) 
B. Information 

i. Committees 
  

8.  ADJOURNMENT       6:00 
  Chair Manfredi will adjourn the meeting. 
 
Bellevue Arts Commission meetings are wheelchair accessible.  Captioning, American Sign Language 
(ASL), or language interpreters are available upon request.  Please phone at least 48 hours in advance 
425-452-6168 (VOICE) for ADA accommodations. If you are deaf or hard of hearing, dial 711 (TR). Assisted 
listening devices are available upon request. Please contact the Arts Program at least two days in advance 
jheim@bellevuewa.gov  ▪ 425-452-4105 (Voice) ▪ Please dial 711 for assistance for the hearing impaired. 
 
  

A g e n d a    

mailto:jheim@bellevuewa.gov


ARTS COMMISSION MEMBERS 
Paul Manfredi, Chair 
Philip Malkin, Vice Chair 
Ashmita Gulati 
Trudi Jackson 
Maria Lau Hui 
Rebecca Lewis 
Carl Wolfteich 
 
COUNCIL LIAISON 
John Stokes 
 
STAFF CONTACTS 
Joshua Heim, Arts Program Manager, 425-452-4105 
Scott MacDonald, Arts Program Coordinator, 425-452-4852 
 
 



M
in

ut
es



Bellevue Arts Commission  
June 5, 2018 Page  1 

 

BELLEVUE ARTS COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MINUTES 
 

June 5, 2018  Bellevue City Hall 
4:30 p.m. Room 1E -109 

 
COMMISSIONERS PRESENT: Chairperson Manfredi, Commissioners Gulati, 

Jackson, Lau Hui, Lewis, Malkin, Wolfteich 
 
COMMISSIONERS ABSENT: None 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Joshua Heim, Scott MacDonald, Community 

Development Department; James Henderson, 
Department of Economic Development  

 
OTHERS PRESENT: None 
 
RECORDING SECRETARY: Gerry Lindsay 
 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The meeting was called to order at 4:33 p.m. by Chairperson Manfredi who presided. All 
Commissioners were present with the exception of Commissioners Gulati and Wolfteich, 
who arrived at 4:34 p.m., and Commissioner Lau Hui who arrived at 4:39 p.m. 
 
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND MINUTES 
 
 A. Approval of Agenda  
 
Motion to approve the agenda was made by Commissioner Malkin. The motion was 
seconded was by Commissioner Lewis and the motion carried unanimously. 
 
 B. Approval of Minutes 
 
Motion to approve the February 6, 2018, minutes as submitted was made by 
Commissioner Lewis. The motion was seconded was by Commissioner Jackson and the 
motion carried unanimously. 
 
3. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS – None 
 
4. ACTION ITEMS AND DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
 A. Creative Edge Final Report and Discussion 
 
Economic Development Director James Henderson informed the Commissioners that the 
quarterly economic development update was provided to the Council on June 4. He said 
the update served as an overview of the activities during the first quarter of 2018. The 
presentation included a focus on where to go moving forward. The data was informed by 
the Creative Edge and the Destination and Development Plan, the latter of which was a 
collaboration between the office of economic development and Visit Bellevue Washington 
that was focused on seeking to better understand Bellevue’s role in the tourism market. 
The Creative Edge strategy brings to bear a focus on the need to give more attention to 



placemaking and enlivening areas of Bellevue through arts, creativity, business and retail 
to bring people to the city and to better serve the residents.  
 
Mr. Henderson said the work done to date has cemented the need to tie the knot 
between arts and culture and economic development. A new office called Cultural and 
Economic Vitality has been created. It will have a focus on and will give emphasis to 
placemaking. The traditional economic development projects will continue going forward, 
but that work will be bolstered by the placemaking focus and the recognition that 
Bellevue’s economy is driven by talent. Talent is what brings companies to town and what 
retains them. The placemaking efforts will center on what needs to be done to keep talent 
in Bellevue and what needs to be done to make it grow.  
 
Arts Program Manager Joshua Heim will play a major role with the office of Cultural and 
Economic Vitality. The goal for the remainder of 2018 is to develop a work plan for 
adoption by the Council in early 2019. Dollars and resources will be put into the efforts. 
 
Chair Manfredi asked what relationship the Commission will have with the new office of 
Cultural and Economic Vitality. Mr. Henderson said answering that question will be part of 
the work going forward. Status updates regarding development of the work plan will be 
provided to the Commission by Mr. Heim.  
 
Mr. Henderson said the creative economy is driven by ideas and technology, all of which 
is predicated on talent. One good example of the creative economy is the gaming industry 
which involves people who do traditional coding, artists, musicians and filmmakers. 
Bellevue and the Eastside play a significant role internationally in the gaming industry. It 
is the sort of thing the creative economy is intended to highlight and address in terms of 
supporting creativity across the board. 
 
Mr. Heim said the task force that helped guide creative edge strategy was made up of 
artists, entrepreneurs, educators and representatives of the philanthropy sector. He said 
the study and the development of the strategies made up the two parts of the creative 
edge project. The white report provided a summary of the research, analysis and 
community engagement undertaken. The report highlighted the fact that there is a strong 
regional creative economy in place. Creative economies are regional by their very nature. 
The foundation of every creative economy is talent, specifically the people who are in the 
report called knowledge workers. The creative economy is the result of taking ideas and 
applying innovation and creative processes to come up with goods and services, and 
knowledge workers lie at the very foundation. Regionally there are just over 100,000 
knowledge workers, most of whom are software developers and those who are working on 
the tech side. However, there are 22,000 workers formally doing arts-related work, such 
as photography, graphic design, education and performance.  
 
The creative economy in the form of knowledge workers is fueling growth in the 
community. Between 2007 and 2015 there was a 30 percent growth in the creative 
industries labor force, which is far greater than the five or six percent growth in all other 
categories. Software developers account for the lion’s share of the growth in knowledge 
workers, but growth in the art and design sectors, as well as entertainers and performers, 
has also been significant.  
 
The Commissioners were shown a chart showing growth in the creative industries sector 
in cities across the nation compared to peer regional cities and Bellevue specifically. Mr. 
Heim noted that Bellevue holds its own, including against cities that are finalists for 
Amazon’s HQ2. He said the creative edge is about two concepts coming together that do 



Bellevue Arts Commission  
June 5, 2018 Page  3 

 

not normally come together in either cultural policy or economic policy: the creative 
economy and edge cities of which Bellevue is a classic example.  
 
Mr. Heim said there are three kinds of people living in Bellevue: those who live in Bellevue 
but do not work in Bellevue; those who work in Bellevue but do not live in Bellevue; and 
those who both live and work in Bellevue. Of the sum total of those in Bellevue who are 
employed in Bellevue, only 12 percent live in Bellevue. Of those who live in Bellevue, only 
one in four have a job in Bellevue. Given the argument about the importance of talent and 
having a city workers want to be in, live in and move to, the statistic that only 12 percent 
of the entire workforce lives in Bellevue highlights the fact that there is room to grow.  
 
Commissioner Gulati suggested the primary factor behind that is the cost of housing in 
Bellevue.  
 
Mr. Heim said the task force focused on the edges, including the edge between what it 
would take for someone who works in Bellevue but does not live in Bellevue to make the 
choice to move to Bellevue. Working from the assets or strengths of Bellevue, the task 
force zeroed in on how to increase what is working rather than identifying gaps. The 
biggest value composition that can be offered to companies is that Bellevue is the kind of 
city in which young millennial workers want to live and work. Even if housing affordability 
or housing stock cannot be influenced, the fact that there is a strategy in place that 
actively seeks to create the kind of environment people want to live in will be important.  
 
Commissioner Gulati asked if it is a problem that Bellevue is currently a net importer of 
talent. Commissioner Jackson said it certainly is an opportunity in pitching Bellevue to 
employers. Telling employers that Bellevue is a place where talent wants to live when the 
fact is most workers live outside of the city is not a strong argument. Mr. Heim said the 
desire is to increase the number of workers who both live and work in the city.  
 
Mr. Heim said there is a clear interest in identifying how arts and culture plays a role in 
connecting community and building a sense of identity. While not impossible, it is very 
difficult for commuter communities. The big question on the arts side is how to make the 
community a place workers, even if they choose not to live in Bellevue, will want to stay 
after hours for dinner and to visit a museum or a performance.  
 
Mr. Heim said the strategy document seeks to answer the questions raised in the white 
paper by focusing on what is working, the assets that are in place, and the strengths that 
make Bellevue a compelling creative place. Bellevue is an arts and creative learning 
center based on the number of non-profits and satellite non-profits operating in Bellevue, 
the majority of which have mission statements about arts education. Bellevue is also a 
tech hub that has a specific focus on knowledge-based industries, including research and 
development and digital gaming. Bellevue also enjoys diversity in the form of a highly 
educated international community. Taken together, the factors suggest Bellevue is an 
international center for arts, creative learning and innovation. The city’s creative edge, 
then is also the vision, which is what the rest of the strategy is built on.  
 
There are three goals, each of which has a series of outcomes that include a case study 
using examples from peer cities, and 20 strategies. The strategies are sorted into the 
categories of foundational strategies, which are about relationship and partnership 
building and things that can be worked on immediately; short-term strategies, which are 
about building capacity; and mid-term strategies, which move on and expand the creative 
edge. There are performance measures identified for each strategy.  
 



To be a creative place, Bellevue needs to look like a creative place; continue to be a place 
where ideas thrive; and focus on the artists and the non-profit organizations and help 
them stabilize and thrive in the rapidly changing community. The outcomes for the goal 
creative placemaking goal are strengthening the city’s cultural districts, including Bel-Red, 
and embedding creativity across the city relative to public art. One case study comes from 
Nashville where their comprehensive plan was updated a couple of years ago. As part of 
that process, their arts commission was given the task of looking into the barriers artists 
were facing, which it turned out were around co-locating small manufacturing and retail 
uses, something not allowed by their zoning code and indeed by the zoning codes of most 
cities. By working with their planning department, the art commission came up with an 
artisan manufacturing zoning amendment which allows art to be created and sold in the 
same place in certain zones.  
 
Commissioner Jackson allowed that while the case study is exciting, she noted that Bel-
Red has already been upzoned and there will be no artists there in five years because 
there will be only highrises and transit-oriented development. She suggested that is in 
fact the case for most of Bellevue. Mr. Heim said that cannot be answered definitively 
because the artists have not been asked to weigh in. Another case study from Nashville 
addresses how they attacked the issue of gentrification.  
 
Commissioner Gulati pointed out that unless affordable spaces are available to artists of 
all kinds who want to work in Bellevue, they will soon be priced out of the city. 
Commissioner Jackson said upzoning guarantees that result. Commissioner Lewis added 
that there is no incentive to stop the development that will ultimately push out artists 
because people are basically greedy.  
 
Commissioner Lau Hui agreed and said it will take the creation of incentives by the city to 
make art spaces happen. Mr. Heim concurred and said that is in fact a part of the 
strategy. 
 
Mr. Heim said the second goal is about making sure Bellevue remains an entrepreneurial 
place where ideas thrive. Particularly, creativity and arts ideas need to be at the center of 
the city’s entrepreneurial culture. Steps that can be taken involve enhancing and 
marketing events, festivals and organizations that are already operating in the city, and 
supporting the entrepreneurial and startup culture for those participating in the cultural 
industries.  
 
Mr. Heim shared with the Commissioners the story of a woman who moved to Bellevue a 
decade ago from Pakistan to work at Microsoft. After a number of years there, she 
decided with some of her friends to start her own business selling shoes made by friends 
in Pakistan. The transition from Microsoft to creative business owner meant she could no 
longer afford the rent in Bellevue and so she moved to Bothell and operates her business 
out of her garage. He noted that other companies began in Bellevue garages, including 
Amazon and Expedia. The ability of the city to hang onto creative people with good ideas 
is of foremost importance. 
 
Another case study shared with the Commissioners involved the city of Philadelphia which 
five or so years ago conducted a creative economy study, which showed the importance 
of the creative economy to the greater Philadelphia area. They also noticed, however, that 
there was a divide between artists and techies. The decision was made to try to bring the 
two groups together by creating a program to leverage both and encourage collaboration. 
The result was the creation of an all-day salon during Philadelphia Tech Week called 
Techniculture. Speakers who were at the intersection of art and technology were invited 
to attend. They partnered with a local philanthropy foundation for seed money that was 



Bellevue Arts Commission  
June 5, 2018 Page  5 

 

used to offer three techniculture residencies in which technologists took up residency 
within arts non-profits and worked to come up with ideas and pilot projects. The following 
year during the Philadelphia Tech Week festival a second salon was held at which the 
ideas were presented. The winning idea received a $20,000 award to scale up their 
prototypes; the other two non-profits received $10,000 awards.  
 
Mr. Heim noted that locally the focus is on capacity building and attacking the affordable 
creative space issue, which is an issue for the entire creative sector. Cultural amenities 
are a large part of why creative businesses choose to locate in Bellevue. An example of 
how a community has worked through the issue was shared with the Commission. Mr. 
Heim said Nashville created a loan program called Make a Mark. At the time Nashville 
was losing cultural spaces and artists to gentrification and the solution they chose was to 
partner with the local regional arts fund and private organizations to raise seed money to 
back loans for artists to buy their homes.  
 
Mr. Heim said the foundational strategies are designed to get people talking, connected 
and collaborating. They are things that can be started immediately. The short-term 
strategies are about creating capacities through such things as policy, zoning and 
marketing to align what is already happening in the city to the greater vision. The mid-
term strategies are the big items and focus on building spaces, determining an 
investment strategy, and linking digital interactive media.  
 
Answering a question asked by Commissioner Lau Hui, Mr. Heim said the strategies are 
designed to be implemented by 2028. He said a matrix has been developed to measure 
the effectiveness of the strategies, but allowed that there is no action plan in place yet. 
There are recommendations within the strategies about the role the city should play; they 
focus on enabling and connecting. He noted that there is no pot of money set aside but 
there is some low-hanging fruit that can be picked. Commissioner Lau Hui commented 
that the strategies all look amazing on paper, but suggested that if there is no funding, it 
will be very difficult to carry them out.  
 
Commissioner Lewis pointed out that funding available for grants has remained the same 
for many years.  
 
Commissioner Jackson said the strategies will serve as a mechanism for communicating 
with people for whom it is not intuitive that art and culture make life better. They will 
serve as a way to inform those who do not currently make that connection.  
 
Mr. Henderson said it remains a question about whether or not the Council will adopt the 
Creative Edge report. He said the questions asked by the Council after the report was 
presented focused on things like how to use it as an approach for Bellevue in the areas of 
planning and zoning. There was talk of bringing the Creative Edge back for more 
discussion. Since then, however, the economic development report was provided to the 
Council in which the Creative Edge was referenced along with the destination 
development plan as the two main drivers behind the idea of placemaking. Going forward, 
one approach would be to make the work plan that focuses on placemaking the umbrella 
action plan for Creative Edge. Another approach would be to use the Creative Edge, the 
destination development plan and the economic development plan as ways to inform a 
new work plan.  
 
Chair Manfredi reported that the response of the Council was positive overall. There were 
questions, however, around what exactly they were being asked to sign onto. There were 
some concerns voiced that adopting Creative Edge would translate into a policy approach 



that would require a financial commitment. While the plan is well thought out, there is still 
the question of how to effectively carry it out.  
 
On the issue of Bellevue needing to look like a creative community, Commissioner Malkin 
said the question remains about how the Commission can influence the architecture in 
Bellevue, most of which is not very inspiring.  
 
Chair Manfredi suggested continuing the conversation with the Creative Edge task force 
as one way of support knowledge sharing and collaboration. Commissioner Malkin added 
that if the new office of Cultural and Economic Vitality is going to implement parts of the 
Creative Edge, the Commission should have a seat at the table.  
 
 B. 2017 Grant Program Report 
 
Mr. Heim provided the Commissioners with a report regarding all activities for the 
Eastside Arts Partnerships and special projects from January to December 2017. He 
reminded them that the goal of the grant program is to foster cultural connections and 
participation, increase access to arts and cultural programs, and provide creative 
opportunities for artists and volunteers in the community. The Eastside Arts Partnerships 
program is the continued support program for non-profits. In 2017 there were 16 non-
profits funded with an average award of $4700. In all, the various funded programs 
served just under 770,000 people, the bulk through the arts fairs. Grantees are asked to 
track the number of Bellevue residents served and for 2017 it worked out to just under 
half of the total number of people served. Almost 46,000 were given either a free ticket or 
a scholarship. Overall, 1200 artists and 2000 volunteers were provided opportunities. 
The 52,000 hours put in by volunteers represents nearly 25 FTEs.  
 
On the special projects side, Mr. Heim said 17 projects were funded in 2017, mostly 
through non-profit organizations, with an average award of just under $2000. The 
programs served 68,000 people, 40,000 of whom were Bellevue residents. There were 
4800 people who received a free ticket or scholarship. Additionally, just less than 200 
artists were supported through the program along with more than 800 volunteers.  
 
Mr. Heim reminded the Commissioners that a year ago during a coffee chat with all of the 
non-profit special projects and Eastside Arts Partnerships partners it was learned that 
continued support for both is very important, as is the notion of capacity building, which 
was the genesis behind the Power Up Bellevue program that is currently in its pilot year 
with five projects. The goal of Eastside Arts Partnerships is to provide a source of reliable 
funding year after year in support of non-profit organizations and the procurement of 
public benefits in the form of access to programming. The special projects program is for 
individual artists, companies and businesses that do not have non-profit status.  
 
Mr. Heim said there are ten organizations between Eastside Arts Partnerships and special 
projects that have budgets under $50,000, and four organizations with budgets over 
$1.25 million. The Access for All ordinance that would have raised the sales tax to 
support arts organizations included a definition of what constitutes a regional 
organization versus a community organization, and the dividing line between them was a 
budget of $1.25 million, below which the community organizations fell and above which 
were regional organizations. Organizations with budgets between $50,000 and $200,000 
is significant because of the IRS reporting requirements relative to budget size in that 
range. It is nearly a given that organizations with a budget of less than $50,000 do not 
have paid staff, and since those organizations do not have to submit to the IRS Form 
990EZ or Form 990, asking them to submit all that information in support of a Eastside 



Bellevue Arts Commission  
June 5, 2018 Page  7 

 

Arts Partnerships or special project grant means they must work all that much harder 
than the well-resourced organizations.  
 
Mr. Heim suggested making the process easier for volunteer organizations by drawing a 
bright line between organizations operating above and below budgets of $200,000 on the 
assumption that organizations with budgets above that line operate with paid staff and 
offer professional products to the community. Under the proposal, the community based 
organizations, those with budgets below $200,000 and likely without paid staff or grant 
writers, would be supplied with a simplified application form designed to be completed by 
a community volunteer. All the same criteria would continue to apply.  
 
Commissioner Jackson commented that she works for a “pro partner” organization, one 
with a budget exceeding $200,000. She explained that she cannot use the information 
from the annual Form 990 and provide it to the city along with a grant application 
because of where the fiscal year for the organization starts. It is thus still necessary to fill 
out the Eastside Arts Partnerships application by hand, which is a massive undertaking.  
 
Commissioner Jackson asked why the community partners should not be asked to 
provide their non-profit status paperwork. Mr. Heim said he has been investigating online 
grant portal systems as a way of moving away from being paper based. He said he 
touches every single document submitted by the 40 or so organizations, which is quite an 
undertaking. The transition to an online system will ping to all the potential decision 
points. The preferred online grant portal system under investigation has a 501(c)(3) 
verifier, thus submitting a paper copy is not necessary. The online system will reduce the 
workload on both sides of the equation.  
 
Commissioner Malkin asked if it would be possible for organizations already established 
as partners could submit their Form 990, even if from the previous year, along with a 
statement that their budget would not see massive changes. Mr. Heim said that could be 
done but that could end up being more work for non-profits. In past years the Commission 
has asked for actual for two years, which is something that is not required in the Form 
990 because it is already reported.  
 
Commissioner Jackson said providing actuals is not all that difficult. The difficulties arise 
from having to manipulate and combine actuals and fiscal year budget data.  
 
Mr. Heim said under his proposal, community partner awards would be capped at $5000, 
and the award could not be more than 50 percent of the total annual budget. On the pro 
partners side, the awards would be capped at $10,000. He said organizations could be 
determined to be community partners or pro partners based solely on the size of their 
budgets; or any organization could be given the option to apply for either award; or only 
the community partners could be given the option to apply for either the smaller grant 
amount with the simplified application or the larger grant with the more intense 
application.  
 
Mr. Heim said in addition, the proposal would include a requirement to submit a letter of 
intent. That is the approach utilized by the National Endowment for the Arts and it is 
helpful because it gets organizations into the system before the actual applications are 
due. The deadline for the letter of intent would be near the end of August to allow a 
couple of weeks of preplanning time.  
 
Mr. Heim stressed that there will be a great deal going on all at once. Bellwether will be 
going on September 14 to September 22, and the county’s sustained support 
applications will be due in mid-October. He said to avoid a conflict he had set the city’s 



application deadline in early October. The idea is to contract with a non-profit or a 
consultant to run the application process, including coordinating the panelists and doing 
all of the scheduling.  
 
Commissioner Malkin noted his support for mapping out the grant program comparisons. 
He said he was somewhat concerned about in effect encouraging organizations to apply 
for special projects and then come into the Eastside Arts Partnerships program. While 
that would be a way to naturally grow the Eastside Arts Partnerships program, at some 
point it could become untenable from a funding stance. Mr. Heim said the current 
approach is to allocate 80 percent to the Eastside Arts Partnerships program and 20 
percent to special projects. That breakdown could be revised, though at the cost of 
reducing the special projects budget.  
 
Commissioner Gulati asked if the allocation to the arts program from the city is a certain 
percentage of the city’s budget. Commissioner Jackson said the allocation has been flat 
for a long time. Commissioner Gulati noted that the city’s tax base is growing and 
suggested the Commission could ask for more. Commissioner Malkin said the 
Commission has in fact repeatedly asked for more but the answer has always been no. 
Commissioner Jackson added that things like Creative Edge are very important when it 
comes to educating the Council in regard to the importance of arts and culture in the city.  
 
Mr. Heim said he anticipated no changes to the Eastside Arts Partnerships and Power Up 
guidelines. He sought approval from the Commission in regard to the community partners 
and pro partners funding levels. 
 
Commissioner Malkin asked if it was necessary to cap the pro partners allocations at 
$10,000. He said he recalled a year in which an allocation of $15,000 was approved.  
 
Commissioner Jackson noted that the Bellevue Arts Museum was awarded about 
$18,000 one year but stressed that the organization is a cautionary case for the 
Commission. Their need might have been high at that time, but their good husbandry of 
funds allocated to them has not been so high. The needs of the larger organization are 
always going to be proportionately larger, but caution should be taken to keep them from 
receiving a disproportionate share the available funding.  
 
Commissioner Lewis suggested that as long the allocation to the arts fund remains the 
same it would be a good idea to limit the pro partners awards to $10,000.  
 
Chair Manfredi asked if there were any reason why special projects or Eastside Arts 
Partnerships recipients could not also apply for a Power Up grant. Mr. Heim said a special 
projects recipient would not apply, though an Eastside Arts Partnerships recipient could. 
He stressed that the Power Up funds are a one-time-only allocation. Chair Manfredi voiced 
concern about putting a cap on the Eastside Arts Partnerships allocations. He said he 
would be okay with including an exception clause for special circumstances.  
 
Commissioner Jackson pointed out that organizations facing an emergency situation are 
free to go directly to the Council seeking funds. The Eastside Arts Partnerships is not 
meant to serve as a source of emergency funds.  
 
There was agreement to cap the allocations for both community partners and pro 
partners as proposed.  
 
Commissioner Jackson noted that she is the only full-time employee of the organization 
she works for and does not consider herself a pro. She added that there are many who 



Bellevue Arts Commission  
June 5, 2018 Page  9 

 

would fall under the community partners heading that are in fact very professional in all 
they do. She said, however, that she did not have a good alternative to use of the word 
“pro.” Mr. Heim said he had until the end of the month before submitting the 
documentation to the Council and asked the Commissioners to send him any 
suggestions.  
 
 D. 4Culture Creative Consultancies Grant Opportunity  
 
Mr. Heim informed the Commissioners that 4Culture started a program about a decade 
ago that was aimed on getting Seattle artists working throughout King County. They were 
mostly performing artists and the program was called Site Specific and grants were 
awarded for site-specific temporary performances and artwork in various requesting 
communities. 4Culture generated the artists list and worked with as a matchmaker with 
local arts agencies. Most recently the program focused on specific heritage sites and for 
the last two years it has been all about technology in communities. For the next iteration 
of the program, the focus is on creative consultancies, which is really artist in residents 
programs.  
 
Mr. Heim said the Bellevue library recently opened a new maker space that provides 
access to such things as digital and 3D printers, an audio/music studio, and a wide 
variety of technology for the creative community. The King County arts program manager 
who is running the Site Specific program suggested matching up the city’s Creative Edge 
project with the library’s maker space. To that end, an application was submitted to set 
up an artist in residency to advance some of the goals of Creative Edge using the maker 
space at the library. The idea is to have an artist on hand to help solve problems.  
 
5. COMMISSION QUICK BUSINESS – None  
 
6. REPORTS 
 
 A. Commissioners’ Committee and Lead Reports – As Noted 
 
 B. Project Updates from Staff – As Noted 
 
7. CORRESPONDENCE, INFORMATION 
 
 A. Written Correspondence 
 
  i. Cultural Competency Foundations Training – As Noted 
 
Mr. Heim encouraged the Commissioners to participate in the training and added that he 
was interested in the Commissioners having a conversation about the role of the 
Commission in relation to equity and diversity.  
 
 B. Information 
 
  i. Committees – As Noted 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Chair Manfredi adjourned the meeting at 6:38 p.m.  



Ac
tio

n 
&

 D
is

cu
ss

io
n



 
 

Tuesday, July 10, 2018 Bellevue Arts Commission 
Meeting:  4:30 pm Action and Discussion 

 
 

 
2018 Bellwether Program Update 
At today’s meeting, SuttonBeresCuller will present a final artist roster for this year’s pilot of the new 
Bellwether program taking place September 14-23rd. The updated roster will be passed out at today’s 
meeting. 

Action and Discussion   



 

 
Tuesday, July 10, 2018 Bellevue Arts Commission 

Meeting:  4:30 pm Action and Discussion 

 
 

 
2019 Bellwether Program Discussion 
At today’s meeting arts program staff will present its options for the 2019 Bellwether program and request 

Commission feedback on organizing themes, as well as an endorsement of the curatorial scope of work, 

preliminary timeline, and budget. Staff will provide information about potential themes at the meeting. 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

Bellwether: The First 25 Years as a Biennial Sculpture Exhibition 

Since its opening in 1992, the city has presented a juried biennial sculpture exhibition to provide 

enjoyment to the community, show a broad variety of sculptures, and expand the concept of what 

sculpture is. For the first ten years, the Bellevue Sculpture Exhibition primarily operated in Downtown Park 

from July through October, with additional locations such as the Bellevue Arts Museum, Bellevue Regional 

Library, and Meydenbauer Center. In 2006, temporary art installations and projects were added when 

Bellevue City Hall opened and was added as a venue. By 2010, the exhibition formally changed its name 

to Bellwether with the explicit mission to express an “art walk” from Downtown Park to City Hall through a 

linked route along the Pedestrian Corridor. Organizing themes were also added at this time. 

 

Past Themes: 

 

• 2010: Sustainability 

• 2012: reGeneration 

• 2014: Connect 

• 2016: Confluence 

• 2018: Connections and Connectivity 

 

Bellwether Now: An Annual 10-day Curated Multi-disciplinary Exhibition and Festival 

In 2017, the artist team SuttonBeresCuller developed an arts and cultural element for the grand 

connection project, which proposes a pedestrian and bicycle route through Downtown Bellevue that 

connects the Eastside Rail Corridor (ERC) in the Wilburton neighborhood to Meydenbauer Bay Park on 

Lake Washington. The grand connection route includes the Pedestrian Corridor, the traditional site of 

Bellwether. SuttonBeresCuller worked with the Arts Commission to develop a vision and strategy for arts 

and culture in the grand connection that includes the concept of a cultural corridor and opportunities to 

align the Bellwether program to this new vision. These recommendations were based on the following 

opportunities identified in the Grand Connection Arts and Cultural Element: 

 

• Reimagine Bellwether as an annual 10-day curated multi-disciplinary exhibition and festival. 

• Encourage deep and meaningful partnerships with Bellevue’s cultural institutions.  

• Rely on well-respected local and international curators to develop a broad and diverse visual and 

performing arts program. 

• Pursue special projects and collaborations. 

 

  

Action and Discussion   



 

THE BELLWETHER EXHIBITION AND ARTS FESTIVAL 

Bellwether is a free, annual, multi-disciplinary arts exhibition and festival produced by the City of Bellevue 

in collaboration with Bellevue’s arts community. For ten days and nights, Bellevue acts boldly with vision, 

imagination, enthusiasm, and ingenuity; pushing the creative limits of the city through a series of 

contemporary arts experiences. 

 

Mission 

The name Bellwether was chosen as a symbol of the overarching mission of this festival: to showcase 

Bellevue’s cultural and creative future and stir creative energy, provide inspiration, and promote self-

expression and out-of-the-box-thinking to turn that future into reality. 

 

Goal 

From its beginnings in 1992 as the Bellevue Sculpture Exhibition, Bellwether has attracted people and 

sculptors from around the world to contribute creative vitality to Downtown Bellevue every other year. Now 

that people live in Downtown and creative talent is growing in the city, the festival exists to harness this 

energy and build the capacity of the community to sustain a lively and diverse arts scene in Downtown 

Bellevue by 2025. 

 

Objectives 

• Build the arts community of artists, organizations, and stakeholders along the Grand Connection route to 

coordinate and share resources. 

• Heighten awareness –of and make connections between activities along the entire route. 

• Promote tourism and grow new audiences that are increasingly diverse, highly educated, and international.  

• Cultivate a more active and interesting night life, especially for Downtown residents and employees. 

• Enliven and enhance the streetscape and public spaces as active and stimulating places to be. 

• Encourage experimentation, innovation, and risk-taking with an emphasis on diversity, technology, and 

community building. 

• Support local and regional artists in the creation and presentation of new works. 

 

2019 BELLWETHER PROGRAM GUIDELINES 

• Align with the vision and values of the Public Art program (see above). 

• Express the mission and meet the objectives of the Bellwether program (see above).  

• Support local and regional artists in the creation and presentation of new works. 

• Explore an artistic and interpretive response to the topic of “_________________________”. 

• Consider information, needs, and priorities as identified in the “Gran Connection Arts and Cultural Master 

Plan.”  

• Contextualize the response within relevant regional, national, and/or international conversations. 

• Contribute to or advance an aspect of Bellevue’s art and cultural history. 

• Allocate a program budget of $95,000 for artist projects including events and public programs.  

• Include a mix of artists including: 

o Different arts mediums and genres; 

o Diverse age, ethnic, and gender perspectives; 
o At least one artist who has not shown in public in Washington State;  

o Local, regional, national, and/or international origins; and 

o International artists must have citizenship in countries with a current tax treaty with United States as 
listed in the IRS Publication 901 US Tax Treaties. 

 

 

  



 

CURATOR SCOPE OF WORK  
 

Name:  2019 Bellwether Curator 
Location: Bellevue, WA 

Budget: $10,000 
Project dates: September 1st, 2018 through September 31st, 2019 

 

The consultant will act in the position of Curator for the City’s 2018 Bellwether program and will consult with the City 
of Bellevue Arts Program under the general direction of the arts program manager to develop the program and 

interpretive strategy for the 2019 Bellwether Exhibition and Festival (Bellwether) tentatively scheduled between 

September 13 and 22, 2019. 

 

The curator will: 

• Develop a curatorial approach that meet the guidelines of the Bellwether program and present 

this to the Bellevue Arts Commission; 

• Recommend a preliminary roster of artists with project assignments and develop project descriptions;  

• Participate in the artist selection process; 

• Work with artists and site owners on project concepts in the creation of an interpretive framework and present 

this to program stakeholders and the Bellevue Arts Commission; 

• Work with artists and site owners on final project proposals to inform an exhibition list and event/performance 

schedule;  

• Produce written exhibition and festival interpretive content; and 

• Present the exhibition to the public during the Bellwether program.  

 

Deliverables: 

• Curatorial statement and presentation The curator will submit a curatorial statement that responds to the 

2019 Bellwether program guidelines (above).The curatorial statement will establish the overall premise of 
the exhibition and present this approach to the Bellevue Arts Commission at their meeting on October 2, 

2018. 

• Preliminary artist roster and project descriptions The curator will submit a preliminary roster of artists for 
use by the city to solicit applications. 

• Selection committee 

• The curator will participate on the 2018 Bellwether selection committee to make final artist selections.  

• Artist consultation, interpretive framework, and presentation The curator will work with the selected 

artists and other project stakeholders to develop artist concepts, present these to project stakeholders and 
the Bellevue Arts Commission. 

• Artist consultation, exhibition list, festival events/performance schedule The curator will submit a final 

exhibition list and festival events/performance schedule to include all artworks and performances to be 

included in the Bellwether program. 

• Interpretive material The curator will produce written interpretive content about the overall program and the 
individual art projects for use in public communications. 

• Public presentation The curator will present the exhibition to the public in person during the 2018 

Bellwether Exhibition and Festival at a mutually agreed upon date and time with the arts program manager. 

 

  



 

BUDGET 

 

  2018 2019  2018 2018 

PROGRAM Total Planning Implementation 
 Budget Actuals 

Curator  $10,000   $3,000   $7,000    $7,500  $10,000 

Advisors, Partners, Fees  $10,000   $2,500   $7,500   $2,500  $5,000+ 

Projects  $80,000    $80,000    $95,000  $100,000 

Sub total  $100,000   $5,500   $94,500    $105,000  $105,000+ 

Lead:     
   

    
   

OPERATIONS Total Planning Implementation 
   

Engineering & Permits  $2,500     $2,500    $2,500  TBD 

Installers  $25,000    $25,000    $25,000 TBD 

Event production  $10,000     $10,000    $0  $17,000 

Security  $10,000     $10,000    $5,000  TBD 

Volunteer coordination  $5,000     $5,000    $1,500  TBD 

Supplies  $1,500     $1,500    $1,200  TBD 

Refreshments  $1,200     $1,000    $20,200  TBD 

Sub total  $45,000  $0    $45,000    $42,500  TBD 

Lead:    
   

    
   

MARKETING Total Planning Implementation 
   

Graphic design  $10,000   $10,000  $5,000 $11,750 

Marketing consultant  $10,000   $10,000  $5,000 $14,400 

Printing & signs  $5,000   $5,000  $5,000 TBD 

Photography & Video  $5,000   $5,000  $5,000 TBD 

Advertising  $10,000   $10,000  $11,300 TBD 

Merchandise/Giveaways  $2,000   $2,000  $2,000 TBD 

Sub total  $42,000  $0 $42,000  $33,300 TBD 

Lead:    
   

    
   

CONTINGENCY  $0 $3,000  $0 $0 

    
   

TOTAL  $190,000  $5,500 $184,500  $183,500  

REVENUE       

COB Public Art Fund $170,000 $5,500 $164,500  $183,500  

Port of Seattle Grant $20,000  $20,000  $20,000  

TOTAL  $5,500 $184,500  $203,500  

 

  



 

TIMELINE 

 

Program 

• Advertise for curator        July 2018 

• Select curator         August 

• Curator on contract        September 5 

• Curatorial statement and approach      October 15 

• Preliminary artist roster and sites      November 15  

• Artist selection        December 15 

• Interpretive framework & project concepts     March 5 

• Final project proposals & site confirmation     April 15   

• Final exhibition list & festival event and performance schedule  April 30 

• Interpretive content completed (text)     June 30 

Production 

• Submit permit applications       May 1 

• Advertise for installer        May 

• Artwork fabrication begins       June 1 

• Select installer        June 

• Complete artwork production/installation begins    September 13 

• Artwork de-installation begins      September 22 

Marketing & Engagement 

• Advertise for marketing and engagement team    February 

• Marketing and engagement team selection    March 

• Update brand & graphic identity      April 15 

• Draft marketing & engagement plan     May 15 

• Final marketing & engagement plan     June 15 

• Complete all media buys/confirm all partnerships    June 30 

• Engagement strategy: Volunteer, docent/tours, and education  July 15 

• Advertising production begins      July 15 

• Interpretive media production begins     July 15 

• Interpretive material produced (brochures, website, etc.)   August 15 

• Marketing campaign begins       September 1 

• Bellwether preview party       September 12 

• Bellwether opens        September 13 

 



 
 

Tuesday, July 10, 2018 Bellevue Arts Commission 
Meeting:  4:30 pm Action and Discussion 

 
 
 
BelRed Streetscape Planning Artist 
Staff will present the recommended planning artist for the BelRed Streetscape Plan, including a short slide 
show of their work and discuss feedback from the artist selection panel regarding the selection. The Arts 
Commission will be asked to consider a motion to accept the recommendation made by the artist selection 
panel. 
 
Motion: A motion to accept the panel’s recommended artist to serve as the planning artist for the BelRed 
Streetscape Update. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The City of Bellevue seeks an artist or artist team to join the consultant team to lead the art and cultural 
planning of public art and other integrated creative features that could include, but are not limited to, 
standalone artworks, gateways, sidewalk furniture, hardscape, utility infrastructure, and cultural programs 
for the update of the BelRed Streetscape Plan, currently called the BelRed Corridor Plan: Streetscape 
Character, Guidelines and Standards. Building off existing themes from the original plan, the artist or artist 
team will develop a new Public Art Element and advise the consultant team on the integration of art and 
cultural elements throughout the plan. Ideal artists or artist teams are able to demonstrate exceptional 
site-investigation skills with regard to local history and culture, experience developing art or cultural plans, 
and are accomplished public artists with experience working in a variety of media. The initial phase of work 
also includes the development of three proposals (concepts and budgets) for early implementation of this 
plan. If exercised by the Arts Commission following the completion of the initial planning work, a second 
phase of work would include the further development of at least one of the proposed public art concepts 
into an actual project.  
 
Funding for the planning scope of work is jointly provided by the Public Art Program and Urban Boulevards. 
Funding for any potential future artworks under a second phase of the contract will be provided by the 
Urban Boulevards program and will not impact the Public Art Program budget.  
 
Selection Process 
On July 9th, staff convened a selection panel to interview four finalists for this project. The selection panel 
was composed of community members, stakeholders and arts professionals. At the interviews, each 
finalist was allowed up to 20 minutes to present past work followed by a 20 minutes interview. 
 
Selection Panel 
 

• Ashmita Gulati, Bellevue Arts Commission, BelRed Streetscape Planning Artist Chair 
• Cindy Edens, Wright Runstad, developer of the Spring District in BelRed 
• Paul Schuster, Manager of Mike Lull Custom Guitars of BelRed 
• Susan Robb, Artist – primarily public artist with extensive planning artist experience 
• Tariqa Waters, Artist, Owner of Martyr Space in Seattle 

 
Selected Artist 
The selected artist will be presented at today’s meeting.  

Action and Discussion   



 
 
Tuesday, July 10, 2018 

 
Bellevue Arts Commission 

  
 

 
1.   
 
2.  
 
3. 
 
 

 

Quick Business   



R
ep

or
ts



 
Tuesday July 10, 2018 Bellevue Arts Commission 
  

 

PROJECT UPDATES 
 
PUBLIC ART 
 
Bellwether 2018: Exhibition & Art Walk 
Update, July 10, 2018: An update will be provided at today’s meeting. 
 
East Link Public Art 
No updates to report. 
 
Grand Connection 
No updates to report. 
 
Lattawood Park 
No updates to report. 
 
Meydenbauer Bay Waterfront Expansion 
No updates to report. 
 
130th Streetscape Public Art 
Update, June 5, 2018: The artist has booked a trip to Bellevue for July 17th and 18th to meet with 
the transportation consultants, stakeholders, and to view the site. If Arts Commissioners would like 
to meet with artist Po Shu Wang, this can be arranged.  
 
Downtown Park Public Art  
No updates to report. 
 
Portable Art Collection 
No updates to report. 
 
Public Art Collection & Maintenance 
No updates to report.   
 
Life Cycle Replacement: 
Update, July 10, 2018: The artwork is estimated to be ready for installation in July. An installation 
date has not yet been scheduled. 
 
Delight in Green Move: 
Update, July 10, 2018: This project is complete.  

R e p o r t s   



OTHER PROJECTS AND PROGRAMS 
 
BelRed Streetscape Plan Update 
Update, July 10, 2018: Staff will present an update at today’s meeting on the panel’s selection for 
the contributing planning artist. 
 
Artspace Affordable Housing Feasibility Study 
No updates to report. 
 
Bellevue Creative Edge 
No updates to report. 
 
Cultural Compass 
No updates to report. 
 
Funding, 2018 
No updates to report. 
 
Power Up Bellevue 
No updates to report. 
 
 



In
fo

rm
at

io
n



COMMITTEE DESCRIPTIONS AND ASSIGNMENTS 

Below are suggested committee assignments and project leads for 2018.  If you have any 

questions or would like to swap an assignment, please discuss with Chair Paul Manfredi.   

 
 

2018 Suggested Assignments 

 

Executive committee 

• Monthly Arts Commission Meetings, Paul Manfredi lead 

• Budget One reporting 

• 2017 Annual Meeting 

 

Allocations committee 

• Becky Lewis, lead 

• Maria Lau Hui, lead on pilot capacity building program 

• Carl Wolfteich 

 

Public art group 

• 130th Avenue in BelRed, Carl Wolfteich  

• Lake Hills, Becky Lewis 

• Lattawood Park, Philip Malkin 

• Downtown Park, Paul Manfredi 

• 2018 Bellwether, Trudi Jackson 

  

Planning group 

• Artspace Artist Housing Feasibility Study, Philip Malkin 

• Creative Edge, Paul Manfredi 

• Grand Connection and Wilburton Land Use Study, Maria Lau Hui 

• BelRed Streetscape Plan, Ashmita Gulati 

 


